SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIAM F. ("BILL") POE, SR.,

Appellant/Cross-Appellaa,

VS.

CASE NO. 90,223

HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, etc., et al.,

Appellees/Cross-Appellants.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT/CROSS-APPELLEE

(Appeal from Final Order of the Circuit Court of the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit in and for Hillsborough County, Florida)

DIANE D. TREMOR, P.A.
Fla. Bar I.D. #121359
CHRIS H. BENTLEY, P.A.
Fla. Bar I.D. #121799
ROSE, SUNDSTROM & BENTLEY
2548 Blairstone Pines Drive
Tallahassee, Florida 32301
(904) 877-6555

THOMAS K. MORRISON, ESQUIRE Fla. Bar I.D. #206581 Morrison, Morrison & Mills 1200 W. Platt Street, Suite 100 Tampa, Florida 33606 (813) 258-3311

INTRODUCTION

Throughout this Initial Brief, Appellant/Cross-appellee William F. ("Bill") Poe, Sr. will be referred to as "Poe." Appellees/Cross-appellants Hillsborough County, the City of Tampa and the Tampa Sports Authority will be referred to, respectively, as the "County," the "City" and the "TSA," or, collectively, as the "governmental agencies" or the "government."

Upon agreement of all parties to this appeal, and in addition to the Appendix filed with their respective briefs, the parties have filed a Joint Appendix with this Court. The first ten (10) Volumes of that Joint Appendix consist of the trial transcript (Volumes I through X) and the transcript of the hearing on the government's Motion for Rehearing (Volume X, Tab A). The remaining six Volumes of the Joint Appendix contain the exhibits received into evidence at the trial, the Final Judgment and the Order denying the Motion for Rehearing. References to the trial transcript contained within the Joint Appendix will be by Volume number, page number and witness's name (i.e., II, 6, Jones). References to the exhibits will be by Volume number, tab number and page number (i.e., XII, 8, 6). References to Poe's Appendix will be designated as "Poe App.," followed by the tab number and the page number (i.e., Poe App., A, 6).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This appeal is from the Final Judgment rendered on March 21, 1997, by the Circuit Court of the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit in and for Hillsborough County, Florida, Judge Sam D. Pendino (Poe App. A), and the Order on Plaintiffs' Motion for Rehearing rendered on March 27, 1997 (Poe App. B). This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, Sections 3(b)(2) and (7) of the Florida Constitution. See also Rowe v. Pinellas Sports Authority, 461 So.2d 72, 74 (Fla. 1984).

These consolidated proceedings began on September 27, 1996, with the filing of Mr. Poe's Complaint for Declaratory Judgment and Permanent Injunction, as amended on January 30, 1997 (Poe App. C). That Complaint sought a declaration that the actions of the County, the City and the TSA with regard to incurring debts, using the taxing power and pledging public credit for the construction and operation of the proposed new Tampa stadium project, as envisioned by various project documents and interlocal agreements, violate Article VII, Section IO of the Florida Constitution. The Complaint further sought an Order permanently enjoining and restraining the governmental agencies from unconstitutionally incurring debts, pledging tax monies and credit and expending public funds for the construction and operation of the new Tampa stadium project. On December 26, 1996, the TSA, the County and the City filed a Complaint seeking to validate a series of revenue bond issues in the total principal amount of \$204.5 million for the construction and equipping of a new stadium, the acquisition and construction of a practice facility and the demolition of the existing stadium. Upon agreement of all parties, the two complaints were consolidated for trial and appellate proceedings. The consolidated trial commenced on March 3, 1997, and continued on

March 4, 5, 7 and 12, 1997.

The existing Tampa stadium (renamed "Houlihan's" in 1995) presently hosts approximately 40 major events per year, including ten home games of the Tampa Bay Buccaneers ("BUCs"), a National Football League ("NFL") franchise. (IV, 544, Saavedra) It has been used by the BUCs since 1976 (III, 367, McKay), and it has been the host for Super Bowls in 1984 and 1991. The existing stadium contains 74,000 seats, including approximately 960 seats located within luxury suites or sky boxes. (III, 424, McKay) Thirty-six of those luxury suites, containing 576 luxury seats, were added to the stadium in 1981, and were paid for entirely by the BUCs through an industrial development bond guaranteed by the Culverhouse family. (IV, 551-52, Saavedra) The existing stadium is encumbered with over \$11 million in outstanding bonded debt for which the governmental agencies are responsible,' and its worth is at least \$80 million. (IV, 615-18, Saavedra) The cost of operating and maintaining the existing stadium is approximately \$3 million to \$3.5 million per year. (IV, 557, Saavedra) From 1990 through 1994, the TSA had an operating surplus at the end of each year. Due to the current agreement with the BUCs, the TSA will have an operating deficit. (IV, 614, Saavedra) It is estimated that the cost to demolish the existing stadium will be \$4 million. (IV, 620, Saavedra)

Current users of the existing stadium, in addition to the BUCs, include the Tampa Bay Mutiny (a professional soccer team), the Outback Bowl, the Florida Classic,

¹ If the BUCs were to leave Tampa prior to the year 2000, the BUCs would be responsible for the repayment of that \$11 million debt outstanding on the bonds. (III, 372, McKay)

the new University of South Florida football team (commencing with the 1997 season), one or two tractor pulls and motor sport events, equestrian events and various other single event users, such as concerts. (IV, 543-44, Saavedra) All the events which are anticipated to occur in the proposed new stadium' are presently taking place in the existing stadium. Unlike the other current users of the existing stadium, the BUCs pay no rent for 1996, 1997 or until such time as they play in the proposed new stadium. (III, 430, McKay) No current or intended user of the existing stadium, other than the BUCs, expressed a need for the construction of a new stadium³ and, in fact, a new stadium is not needed for other events. (I, 67-8, 75-6, Greco; V, 714, Kleman; IV, 262-66, Saavedra)

BUC season ticket prices at the existing stadium are between \$234 and \$432 for regular seats (or \$23 to \$43 per game) and between \$35,000 and \$55,000 for a luxury suite. The BUCs currently make \$6 million or \$7 million a year from the sale of luxury suites and from concessions and parking at the existing stadium. (III, 413-14, McKay) In the proposed new stadium, there will be an increase in the regular seat ticket price and the luxury suites will cost between \$65,000 and \$85,000 per season. In addition, 12,000 of the formerly regular seats will be converted to club seats at the proposed new stadium, and those club seats will be priced at between \$950 and \$2450 per season (or \$95 to \$245 per game). (III, 419-426, McKay) From the club and luxury seats in the proposed new stadium alone, the BUCs will earn \$15 million to \$23 million

² Indeed, the new Stadium Agreement with the **BUCs** encourages the use of the new facility by other users in that the **BUCs** "have a piece of the action." (IV, 544, Saavedra)

³ While there was evidence that the Tampa Bay Mutiny expressed a desire for a wider field for soccer, the evidence established that such could be accomplished at the existing stadium at an estimated cost of \$190,000. (III, 456, Bryant)

in revenues. (IV, 569, Saavedra; III, 416, McKay) The BUCs projected that if the new stadium were not completed by their 1997-98 NFL season, they would forego \$25 million in lost revenue opportunity. (III, 418, McKay)

The existing stadium, built in 1967, is in need of some repairs and renovations. In order to have a structurally sound, functional and safe facility and to extend its useful life for another 30 years, the cost of such renovations will be approximately \$52 million. (XI, 9; III, 439, 457, Bryant; III, 476, Schwanaveck) However, the existing stadium is not unsafe for patrons or users, is currently being used and will continue to be used in its present condition for several years. No evidence was presented that the existing stadium constitutes any present danger to the health, safety or welfare of the public or that the needed repairs could not be accomplished over a period of time. Likewise, no evidence was presented that the three forms of taxation intended to be utilized in the current bond validation proceeding (the infrastructure surtax or the community investment tax, the tourist development tax and/or the state sales tax rebate) could not be utilized to pay for the cost of repairs to the existing stadium. If the improvements identified in the 30-year serviceability report were made, the existing stadium can be properly maintained for the next 30 years for about \$455,000 a year. (III, 463, Bryant)

In mid-I 995, the **BUCs** team was purchased for \$192+ million by an entity or entities owned or controlled by an individual named Malcolm Glazer. (I, 48, Greco) Immediately after that acquisition, the new owner informed the TSA and the community that a new stadium was necessary to enable the owner to generate higher profits. (III, 370, McKay) Mr. Glazer required additional revenue in order to pay off the acquisition

debt and to recoup his investment for his purchase of the **team**. (I, 66-7, 69, Greco; III, 410, 412, McKay) The new owner further informed the TSA and the community that if his demand for a new stadium were not met, the team would be moved to another city. The evidence established that if a new stadium were constructed, the **BUCs** would generate, from club and luxury seats alone, from \$8 million to \$16 million in additional annual revenues beyond the total revenues which they presently generate in the existing stadium. That amount does not include other revenues they will earn as a result of the terms of the Stadium Agreement. (IV, 568-69, Saavedra; III, 413-17, McKay) By adding other revenues payable to the **BUCs** under the Stadium Agreement, the **BUCs** will receive total revenues from the new stadium in excess of \$40 million per season (IV, 629, Saavedra), or \$1.2 billion before inflation over the initial 30-year term of the lease.

The BUC's demands were predicated upon their assertion that they were losing money in the existing stadium and needed to earn higher revenue levels to remain competitive. During negotiations with the new owner of the BUCs, neither the TSA, the County, the City nor other community leaders made inquiry into the financial condition of the BUCs, nor did they make inquiry as to whether the BUCs were making a profit from the existing stadium. (I, 67-8, 75-6, Greco; V, 676, 717, Kleman; IV, 567-68, Saavedra; II, 256-57, Wilson) Neither the TSA, the County nor the City had any evidence that other binding offers were made to the BUCs for relocation to another city, nor did they inquire as to the terms of any potential offers. (V, 703-04, 719, Kleman) Indeed, the evidence establishes that one of the two alleged relocation proposals, neither

⁴ When asked why the BUCs would not build their own stadium in order to generate greater revenues, Mayor Greco replied: "I wouldn't build one either. Would you if there is some city willing to build it for you? Why would you do that?" (I, 68, lines 13-15)

of which constituted binding contractual offerings, was not available to the BUCs after November of 1995, and that neither proposal was as favorable to the BUCs as the Stadium Agreement entered into by the BUCs in Tampa. (VII, 1094-95, 1102-1112, Zimbalist; X, 8) In addition, if the BUCs were to leave Tampa, they would have had to pay a relocation fee to the NFL (\$29 million), a fee to the Culverhouse estate (approximately \$15 million), \$1 1 million for the repayment of the existing stadium bond indebtedness, moving costs and they would not be entitled to share any expansion revenue if an expansion team replaced them in Tampa. (VII, 1107-1 1, Zimbalist; III, 372, McKay) In fact, the BUCs never submitted a relocation application to the NFL, which requires approval by 3/4 of the member teams, and the NFL preferred that the BUCs remain in Tampa. (VI, 841-42, Goodell)

Without knowledge as to the financial condition of the BUCs and without knowledge as to whether there were real and existing incentives for the BUCs to leave Tampa and relocate to another city, the governmental officials nevertheless believed that they must do and, in fact, did "everything in our power" to keep the BUCs in Tampa. (I, 35, Greco) The immediate past-Chairman of the Greater Tampa Chamber of Commerce was aware of no similar offer by local government (the expenditure of over \$400 million in public monies) to keep a business in Tampa. (II, 256, Wilson)

During the stadium lease negotiations in 1995, the TSA conveyed to the BUCs, without consideration, the naming rights of the existing Tampa stadium. The exercise of those rights, resulting in a change in the name of the Tampa Stadium to "Houlihan's," have an economic value to the BUCs of between \$500,000 and \$2 million per year. (III, 401, McKay) As discussed below, the BUCs were later granted the naming rights to the

proposed new stadium and premises.

In order to meet the economic demands of the BUCs, who threatened to move to another city, the TSA, the County and the City agreed in April of 1996 to demolish the existing 74,000-seat stadium; to construct and equip a new 65,000-seat stadium containing 12,000 club seats, club lounges and 100 luxury suites for an estimated construction cost of \$168.5 million; to continue the BUC's exclusive naming rights to the new stadium; to contribute \$12 million for the acquisition and development of a new practice field for the exclusive use of the BUCs and at a design and location to be determined by the BUCs; and to grant the BUCs commercial development rights to an approximately 35-acre parcel of public property located upon the stadium premises. The reason for building a new stadium was to enable the BUCs to earn more revenues so that they would remain in Tampa. (I, 48, Greco) The focal point of the stadium design was to satisfy the BUCs. (IV, 516, Boyle) The BUC's primary concern was luxury boxes, club seating and lounges and other fan amenities (IV, 518, Boyle), from which they could earn greater revenues.

In May of 1996, the Greater Tampa Chamber of Commerce commissioned a poll of Hillsborough County voters to determine whether a stadium-only tax would be approved by the voters of Hillsborough County. The result of that poll was that if a stadium-only tax were placed upon the ballot, it would be defeated by a margin of two (2) to one (I). (II, 257-59, Wilson; V, 714, Kleman)

On July 10, 1996, the Hillsborough County Board of County Commissioners passed an Ordinance levying a one-half cent local government infrastructure surtax for a period of 30 years "to acquire infrastructure for general government purposes, public

education, and public safety." (XIV, 19, 2 and 3) As required by law for the passage of an infrastructure **surtax**,⁵ the Ordinance provided for a referendum. The purpose of the half-cent sales tax, as presented to the electorate, was

to finance infrastructure for jails, police and Sheriffs equipment, fire stations, emergency vehicles, school construction, a community stadium, transportation improvements, libraries, parks, trails, stormwater improvements and public facilities. (XIV, 19, 5)

The referendum was approved on September 3, 1996, by a vote of 52.8 percent. (XIV, 20)

Hillsborough County, the Cities of Tampa, Plant City, and Temple Terrace, and the Hillsborough County School Board entered into an Interlocal Agreement for Distribution of Community Investment Tax Revenue. That Agreement provided that the net proceeds from the local option infrastructure surtax during the 30-year duration of the tax would be distributed as follows: the School Board would receive 25% of the net proceeds each year; \$318 million of the proceeds would be disbursed for construction of a new Tampa stadium (with that amount subject to change should there be a significant change in the debt service costs for the new stadium) and any remaining proceeds would be distributed among the county and municipalities pursuant to the distribution formulae in Section 218.62, Florida Statutes. (XIV, 28, 2)

On August 28, 1996, the TSA and the BUCs, with the approval of the County and the City, entered into a Stadium Agreement, a Stadium Parcel Development Agreement and a Practice Area Development and Lease Agreement. (XII) In relevant

⁵ Section 212.055(2), Florida Statutes.

part, these Agreements provide as follows:6

A. The TSA agreed to construct, at its sole expense, a new 65,000 seat, expandable capacity football stadium with 12,000 club seats and 100 luxury suites, at an estimated cost of construction of \$168,561,522, with the TSA responsible for all costs over and above that estimate.⁷ (1, 70) The Recitals to the Stadium Agreement acknowledge that the TSA agreed to construct the new stadium as an inducement to the ownership to continue to operate an NFL franchise in Hillsborough County. (1) The BUCs have the sole and exclusive right of final approval of the design and construction of the new stadium. (73-78; III, 427, McKay) The BUCs also have the right to choose all graphics, signs, color schemes, including seat colors, and the like in and around the stadium and on the premises, as well as to select the uniforms to be worn by working personnel at the stadium for all events. (65-66)

B. The BUCs retain 100% of all revenues of any kind derived from BUC NFL games and BUC events at the new stadium. With regard to all other non-BUC stadium events, the BUCs receive (in addition to all revenues from advertising rights, naming rights, fees for sublease of luxury suites and the merchandising of goods within the Team Space), the first \$2 million of revenues, net of direct operating costs, received by the TSA in the form of rent, license or other fees, ticket sales and other admission charges, parking, concessions, broadcasting and merchandising and any other revenues,

⁶ Except as noted otherwise, all citations in subparagraphs A - P are to the page number of the Stadium Agreement and its Exhibits, as contained within Volume XII of the Joint Appendix.

⁷ At the time of the trial in this matter, no guaranteed maximum price had been established for the new stadium. (IV, 609-10, Saavedra) The engineering firm responsible for the design of the new stadium does not know whether the stadium can be constructed for \$168.5 million. (IV, 518-19, Boyle)

plus 50% of all such revenues in excess of \$2 million, less sales taxes, surcharges and direct costs. All such revenues are payable to the BUCs within 30 days after the stadium event. (35, 41-43) The \$2 million amount which the BUCs receive from other stadium events is increased if the number of parking spaces available on the stadium premises are decreased. (86)

C. The BUCs pay no rental or fees of any kind for the right to use the existing stadium from August 1, 1996, until the exhibition of the BUC's first game at the new stadium, a period that will span for at least the 1996-97 and 1997-98 NFL season. (13) During that period, the BUCs continue to receive 27.5% of the revenues from all other non-BUC stadium events. (IV, 568, Saavedra)

D. The BUCs have the sole and exclusive right to exercise the naming rights of the new stadium and premises and to receive and retain all monies or other consideration for the exercise or sale of such rights. (29)

E. The BUCs have the sole and exclusive right to choose and sell all food, beverages and other concessions within the stadium or elsewhere within the premises for all stadium events, and to retain all up-front payments from exclusive concession-aires. The TSA has no rights of approval with regard to the items to be sold, the prices to be charged or the concessionaire(s) selected. The TSA has no right to offer any food or beverage items for sale at any stadium event. (24-25)

F. The BUCs have the sole and exclusive right to undertake any and all advertising or marketing of any kind on the stadium premises at all times, and to retain all compensation received therefrom, subject only to the TSA's right to grant sponsorship rights to other stadium users during other stadium events. However, such sponsorships

of other stadium events may not be awarded to businesses which conflict or compete with the business holding the **BUC's** naming rights. (18-24)

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