## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA Case No. 90,223

Bond Validation Appeal From A Final Order Of The Thirteenth Judicial Circuit, Hillsborough County, Florida

#### WILLIAM F. POE, SR.,

Appellant, Cross-Appellee,

V.

## HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, CITY OF TAMPA, FLORIDA, and TAMPA SPORTS AUTHORITY,

Appellees, Cross-Appellants.

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEES, CROSS-APPELLANTS

#### HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY

Emeline C. Acton (FBN 309559) County Attorney Mary Helen Campbell (FBN 653810) Assistant County Attorney Christine Beck (FBN 767328) Assistant County Attorney 27th Floor, County Center 601 E. Kennedy Blvd. Tampa, FL 33601 (8 13) 272-5670

#### HOLLAND & KNIGHT LLP

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

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court, after hearing the testimony of more than 20 witnesses including expert witnesses on both sides, properly found that constructing the Community Stadium and retaining the **Bucs** will generate substantial economic benefits as well as immeasurable intangible benefits to the Tampa Bay Community. Indeed, the trial court properly determined that the stadium project will generate benefits of at least \$3 billion exclusive of inflation. The trial court also found that the stadium and the **Bucs** will generate immeasurable intangible benefits such as attracting national media exposure, helping to attract tourists and new businesses to the Tampa Bay Area, instilling civic pride and camaraderie into the community, enhancing the community's image on a nationwide basis and providing recreation, entertainment, and cultural activities to its citizens. These findings of fact were clearly within the province of the trial court, were supported by competent substantial evidence and should not be disturbed.

In light of these findings on the benefits to be realized from the stadium project, the state and local legislative findings of public purpose, approval by the voters in a referendum, and the substantial case law supporting the project, the trial court should have validated the bonds. The court's decision that one clause in the Stadium Agreement was too beneficial to the **Bucs** overlooks the many decisions of this Court upholding projects in the public interest even when a private party will receive substantial benefits. The court exceeded its authority by attempting to micromanage the stadium negotiations between the **Bucs** and the Issuers. The wisdom or financial viability of the Stadium project is within the province of legislative officials, not the courts.

Finally, Poe's attacks on the court's evidentiary rulings are irrelevant, and in any event must fail because these rulings were not an abuse of discretion. The issue is not whether the elected public officials made the correct decision, but only whether there was a reasonable basis for their actions. The fact that experts may disagree is no basis to rule that the public officials' decisions were clearly erroneous.

The court should reverse the decision of the trial court and validate the bonds. If the trial court is affirmed, the bonds should still be validated conditioned upon the renegotiation of the offending portion of the Stadium Agreement.

#### ARGUMENT

The narrow role of the courts in bond validation proceedings is to determine whether the governmental entity has the power to issue the bonds, and whether it exercised such power in accordance with **the** law. **Noblev.MartinCountyHealthFacilitiesAuth.,682** So. 2d 1089 (Fla. 1996). Poe does not question the Issuers' authority to issue the **bonds.**<sup>18</sup> Thus, the only question is whether the new stadium project violates Article VII, Section 10 of the Florida Constitution because the **Bucs** will benefit from their lease with the Sports Authority. Article VII, Section 10 provides:

Neither the state nor any county, school district, municipality, special district, or agency of any them shall become a joint owner with, or stockholder of, or give, lend, or use its taxing power or credit to aid any corporation, association, partnership or person . . .

According to this Court, a bond issue does not violate Article VII, Section 10 so long as the project serves a "paramount public purpose, " even if a private party benefits from the bonds. See **Northern Palm Beach County Water Control Dist. v. State, 604 So.** 2d 440, 441-42 (Fla. 1992); **Wald v. Sarasota County Health Facilities Auth.**, 360 So. 2d 763 (Fla. 1978). So long as a paramount public purpose exists, and private interests are only incidentally benefitted, bonds are constitutional. See **State v. Jacksonville Port Auth.**, 204 So. 2d 881 (Fla. 1967).

The Issuers proved below and will demonstrate here that the construction of a new Community Stadium, which will keep the **Bucs** in Tampa for the next thirty years, serves a paramount public purpose. Our brief opens with a discussion of State and local legislative

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Poe's opposition to the new stadium includes an unsuccessful attempt to enjoin the County's Supervisor of Elections from conducting the referendum in **Poe** v. Iorio, Case No. 96-5537 (13th Cir., Hillsborough County, Aug. 26, 1996) (JA XVI, tab 37). Poe did not appeal this adverse ruling.

findings that stadium projects in general and this stadium project in particular serve a paramount public purpose. As this Court has acknowledged, it is the province of these public officials, and not the court, to determine what is in the public interest,

Next, we will demonstrate that these legislative findings of paramount public purpose are not clearly erroneous, Indeed, the trial court determined that conservatively, the new stadium project and the **Bucs** will have at least a \$3 billion economic impact on the Tampa community over the next thirty years, Obviously recognizing the import of this conclusion --\$3 billion in economic impact presents a powerful case of paramount public purpose -- Poe asks this Court to revisit the trial court's factual determinations. However, the trial court's findings of economic impact are based on competent substantial evidence and must be affirmed.

As we show below, the trial judge's factual findings on economic impact, combined with the declarations of state and local public officials and the referendum, should have compelled the conclusion that the bonds serve a paramount public purpose. Yet, the trial judge erroneously refused to validate the bonds based on one provision in the Stadium Agreement that grants the first \$2 million from non-Buts events to the **Bucs**. The trial court had no business second-guessing the wisdom of the Issuers' lease negotiations with the **Bucs**.

We close by addressing Poe's complaints regarding the trial court's evidentiary decisions. As shown below, none of these decisions was an abuse of discretion. All of the Issuers' evidence demonstrated a reasonable basis to support the decision of these elected officials and the voters that this stadium project serves a paramount public purpose.

- 17 -

I.

## CONSTRUCTION OF A COMMUNITY STADIUM DESIGNED TO KEEP THE BUCS IN TAMPA SERVES A PARAMOUNT PUBLIC PURPOSE.

State and local legislative officials have determined that constructing a sports facility to retain a professional sports team such as the **Bucs** serves a public purpose. The legislative preamble to Chapter 88-226 of the Laws of Florida, which is entitled an "act relating to professional sports franchises, " expressly provides that such franchises serve an important public purpose:

The legislature recognizes that the location of a professional sports franchise in the state represents nonpolluting economic development for the state and promotes tourism and recreation, improves the prosperity and welfare of the state and its citizens and such public purposes implement the governmental purposes under the State Constitution of providing for the health, safety and welfare of the people.

Pursuant to this legislation, the State of Florida established a funding mechanism to partially subsidize the construction of sports facilities for new professional sports franchises within the State of Florida. §288.1162(7), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1996). This statute conditions the receipt of the rebate on proof that a long term lease is in place with a professional team.

More recently, the state legislature expanded its subsidization of sports facilities to include a "facility for a <u>retained</u> professional sports franchise." Ch. 95-304, Laws of Fla.<sup>19</sup> (Emphasis supplied). This legislation recognizes the important public purpose in retaining existing professional sports teams. According to the legislative preamble to Chapter 95-304, "existing professional sports franchises provide Florida communities with a source of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Chapter **95-304** amends **§§212.20** and 288.1162, Fla. Stat.

recreation and contribute to civic pride, and ... such existing professional sports franchises provide jobs and enhance economic development and well-being for the citizens of Florida ...." Confirming this public purpose, the legislation makes funds available to assist in retaining professional sports teams in danger of relocation. See also §196.012(6), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1996) (lease of public stadium by private party serves a public purpose).

Local public officials charged with making decisions relating to the stadium and the **Bucs** reached similar conclusions regarding the value of the stadium project. Summarizing the findings made by the County, the City, and the TSA, the Interlocal Agreement for Stadium Financing confirms the public purpose of the stadium project. According to the Agreement: "The acquisition and construction of the stadium by the Authority complies with the County's plan of tourist development and will promote the influx of tourists to the County and thereby benefit the local economy, and will be of substantial benefit to the entire County and thereby serves a public purpose." (JAPX-14).<sup>20</sup>

Confirming the limited role of the courts in bond validations, this court has held that these legislative declarations of public purpose are presumed valid. *See, e.g., Northern Palm Beach County Water Control Dist. v. State,* 604 So. 2d 440, 442 (Fla. 1992) ("This court has stated that a legislative declaration of public purpose is presumed to be valid, and should be deemed correct unless so clearly erroneous as to be beyond the power of the legislature. "); *Pepin v. Division of Bond Finance,* 493 So. 2d 1013, 1014 (Fla. 1986) ("Legislative declarations of public purpose are presumed valid and should be considered correct unless patently erroneous."); *Nohrr v. Brevard County,* 247 So. 2d 304, 309 (Fla. 1971) (those

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> See Tampa City Council Resolution Nos. 1388 (JA XIV-PX-26) and 1554 (JA XV-PX-29); TSA Resolution 96-121 (JA XIII-PX-14) and Hillsborough County Ordinance 96-12 (JA XVI-PX-19).

challenging a legislative declaration must show that the determination was "so clearly wrong as to be beyond the power of the legislature"),

The declarations of the state and local legislators relevant to this case are supported by well-settled authority in Florida and from many other jurisdictions holding that the construction of a sports facility serves a valid public purpose. The leading case in Florida is *State v. Daytona Beach Racing & Recreational Facilities Dist., 89 So.* 2d 34 (Fla. 1956) where this Court considered the validity of bonds issued to finance the Daytona Motor Speedway, Addressing whether there was a paramount public purpose supporting the Speedway, the Court held that bonds could be validated notwithstanding that a private corporation would realize substantial private gain from the facility. Deferring to legislative findings of public purpose, this Court recognized the important public benefits resulting from the construction of the Speedway and other such facilities. Id. at 36-37.

Consistently following this reasoning, this Court has validated bonds for the construction of the original Tampa Stadium,<sup>21</sup> the enlargement of the Orange Bowl,<sup>22</sup> the construction of Tropicana Field in St. Petersburg, <sup>23</sup> the enlargement of the Tangerine Bowl<sup>24</sup> and a host of other cultural and recreational projects.<sup>25</sup> See also Miami Dolphins, Ltd. v. Metropolitan Dade County, 394 So. 2d 981 (Fla. 1981) (tourist development tax to

- <sup>22</sup> State v. City of Miami, 41 So. 2d 545 (Fla. 1949).
- <sup>23</sup> Rowe v. Pinellas Sports Auth., 461 So. 2d 72 (Fla. 1984).
- <sup>24</sup> Orange County Civic Facilities Auth. v. State, 286 So, 2d 193 (Fla. 1973).

<sup>25</sup> City of Tampa, 146 So. 2d 100 (noting that the Court has frequently approved cultural and recreational projects such as stadiums).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> State v. City of Tampa, 146 So. 2d 100 (Fla. 1962).

modernize and improve the Miami Dolphins' home stadium not unconstitutional); **Daytona Beach Racing & Recreational Facilities Dist. v. Paul, 179 So.** 2d 349 (Fla. 1965) (reconfirming the important public purpose of building recreational and tourist facilities such as the Speedway).

Other courts addressing Florida stadium projects have reached similar results. See **Rolling Oaks Homeowners'** Ass'n, Inc. v. Dade County, 492 So. 2d 686, 688 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986) (" [t]he use of public property as a sports stadium has been approved as use for a public purpose. "), rev. denied, 503 So. 2d 328 (Fla. 1987); Luke Lucerne Civic Ass'n, Inc. v. Dolphin Stadium Corp., 878 F.2d 1360 (11th Cir. 1989) ("The construction of a sports stadium was a legitimate public purpose under Florida law.. .. "), cert. denied, 493 U.S. 1079 (1990).

The only Florida case to the contrary cited by Poe is the anomalous and outdated case of **Brandes v. City of Deerfield Beach**, 186 So. 2d 6 (Fla. 1966). In **Brandes**, this Court, in a narrow 4-3 ruling, held that the construction of a spring training facility for the Pittsburgh Pirates did not serve a paramount public purpose. However, **Brandes** offers little assistance to the resolution of this case for several reasons. First, the Court's analysis of the private versus public benefits is extremely conclusory. **Id.** at 12. The decision sheds no light on what evidence, if any, was in the record that the proposed spring training facility would have a positive economic impact to its community. It may well be that the record (unlike the record here) contained little or no evidence of the public benefit to be derived from the project.

More importantly, however, **Brandes** is out of step with the other stadium cases cited above and with modern precedent taking a broader view of paramount public purpose. Put

- 21 -

simply, the dissent's prediction that "the Court has today drawn too tight a line around public financing for the accomplishment of legitimate public objectives" has proven prophetic. *Id.* at 12 (Thornal, J., dissenting). *Brandes* cannot be reconciled with more recent pronouncements of this and other courts on the paramount public purpose of building community stadiums and other recreational or tourist facilities.<sup>26</sup>

**Brandes** also predates important changes in the law relating to the public purposes that bond financing can serve, After **Brandes** was decided, the Florida Constitution was amended to expand the power of local governments to use bond financing.<sup>27</sup> **Brandes** also predates the legislature's declaration that the construction of a sports facility and the retention of existing professional sports franchises serve a public purpose. §§ 196.012(6), 288.1162(7), Fla. Stat.; Ch. 95-304, Laws of Fla.

**Brandes** aside, Florida law is consistent with overwhelming precedent in other jurisdictions. For example, in *CLEAN v. State of Washington*, 928 P.2d 1054 (Wash. 1996), the Supreme Court of Washington recently held that the expenditure of public funds to

<sup>27</sup> Although the 1968 Amendment does not specifically overrule **Brandes**, it demonstrates that the legislature and the voters felt that this Court too narrowly defined public purpose in several sharply divided bond validation opinions issued during this time period. See **Linscott** *v*. **Orange County Zndus. Dev. Auth.**, 443 So. 2d 97 (Fla. 1983).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Brandes can also be distinguished on its facts. In Brandes there was no referendum approving the construction of the sports facility. Moreover, the construction of the sports facility was merely to serve as a spring training facility for exhibition games, unlike the Community Stadium, which will serve as a home for the Tampa Bay Bucs for both exhibition games as well as regular season games and will serve as home to the Tampa Bay Mutiny Soccer Team, University of South Florida Football Team, the 2001 Super Bowl, high school football games, the Outback Bowl, motor sports events, and a variety of nonathletic events including concerts (JA IV-543-545.) Clearly, the public purpose of a multi-purpose Community Stadium is much greater than the public purpose associated with the construction of a spring training facility. See Lifteau v. Metropolitan Sports Facilities Comm 'n, 270 N.W.2d 749 (Minn. 1978) (distinguishing Brandes because it related to the training facility of only one team rather than a multi-purpose stadium).

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